
Bath Township Public Library Board of Trustees 

Sue Garrity, President Theresa Kidd, Vice President 
Ryan Fewins-Bliss, Treasurer Shannon Vlasic, Secretary 
Lynn Bergen Ken Jensen 

 
 
 

AGENDA, JULY 17, 2019 – 6 P.M. 

1. Call to Order. 

2. Moment of Civic Reflection 

3. Approval of the Agenda 

4. Public Comment – limited to 3 minutes, on agenda items only. 

5. Disclosure of Conflicts of Interest 

6. Review and Approval of Minutes 

7. Financial Report – Treasurer 

8. Director’s Report (now also including Youth Services Report) 

9. Unfinished Business - Items for Discussion 

a. Continued Review of Policies for Approval 

i. ACH Policy 
ii. Credit Card Policy 

iii. FOIA Policy 
b. Bylaws 

i. Article IV, Section 7 Treasurer – Closed Session re: attorney letter 
c. Strategic Planning Workshop – update on staff input on Strategic Plan draft 

10. Items for Action (need a vote) 

a. Policy & Employee Manual – drafts from Anne Seurynck (continuing review) 

i. ACH Policy 

ii. Credit Card Policy 

iii. FOIA Policy 

iv. Bylaws 

1. Article IV, Section 7 Treasurer 

b. Adoption of Strategic Planning Document 

11. New Business - Items for Discussion 

a. Performance Review for Director 

b. Draft of potential moving costs 

12. Items for Action 

13. Public Comment – Limited to 3 minutes 

14. Board Member Comments 

15. Adjournment 

Reminder:  Next Meeting is August 21, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Bath Township Public Library, P.O. Box 368, 14033 Webster Road, Bath MI 48808, 517-641-7111 



Bath Township Public Library 

Meeting Minutes 

 
Wednesday, June 19, 2019 

Present: (Board Members) Sue Garrity, Lynn Bergen, Ken Jensen, 

Shannon Vlasic, Theresa Kidd 

Board not present: Ryan Fewins-Bliss 

(Library Director & staff) Kristie Reynolds, Derek Barth 

Public: Elizabeth Evans 

Next meeting: Wednesday July 17, 2019 @ 6:00pm 
 

 

I. Regular Business 

 
a. Meeting called to order at 6:04pm 

 
b. Moment of civic reflection. 

 
c. Shannon moves to approve the agenda as presented, Theresa 2nd, all in favor. 

 
d. Public comment on agenda items: none. 

 
e. Disclosures of conflict of interest: none. 

 
f. Lynn moves to approve the minutes from 5/22 as adjusted (change IV.-a “liquid” 

to ‘liquid assets.” Change VI.-a from “we will put this on the agenda next month 

to amend policy as accepted.” to “circulation policy will be reviewed at the July 

meeting.”) Theresa 2nd, all in favor. 

 

 
II. Audit Presentation – Aaron Stevens, Maner Costerisan 

 

Attached. Passed audit with highest level of clearance! Great job everyone! Fund 

Balance (page 3) is measure of financial health. Our fund balance is at 49% of 

annual expenditures. Two months expenses are minimum government 

recommendation for fund balance… this equals out to roughly 17%. We are in 

excellent financial shape. We will get a letter from Treasury regarding internal control 

procedures that need to be corrected. We will need to plan to follow up with Treasury 

regarding how we plan to correct these procedures. Aaron will assist if needed. 



2  

III. Financial Report 

 
Attached. Budget is January – December. Budget does include some July invoices 

and bills so it is not 100% accurate. Kristie will do this differently next month. We will 

need to adjust payroll & budget as well as legal & professional categories. Kristie 

suggests waiting until November to change budget as she believes that we will still 

be under budget. Lynn wants Ryan to weigh in because he did suggest adjusting 

these categories more than once through the year. Kristie will talk to Ryan about this. 

Put on agenda for next month. Theresa moves to accept budget report with 

comments made, Lynn 2nd, all in favor. 

 

IV. Director’s Report 

Attached. Youth report also attached. 

 

 
V. Unfinished Business 

 
a. Policy & Employee Manual; 

 
I. Investment Policy: Look at this in July. 

II. Kristie will put passed policy & procedures on the website. 

 
b. Bylaws; 

 
I. Article IV, Section 7 Treasurer – (Closed Session re: attorney letter): Look 
at this in July. 

 

c. Strategic Planning Workshop; Table until July so staff can review and make any 

necessary edits. 

 

 
VI. New Business – Items for Discussion 

 
a. Shannon moves to add Strategic Planning update section after Director’s Report 

section and to include the Youth Director’s Report with the Director’s Report. 

Lynn 2nd, all in favor. 

 

 
VII. New Business: None. 



3  

VIII. Closing 

 
a. Public Comment: None. 

 
b. Board Comment: None. 

 
c. Theresa moves to adjourn the meeting, Ken 2nd, all in favor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Meeting adjourned at 7:26pm. 



 

Bath Township Public Library 

BUDGET VS. ACTUALS: BTPL FY2019 BUDGET 

January - December 2019 
 

 

TOTAL 
 

 ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET 

Income 

Donation 

 
48.81 

 
5,000.00 

 
-4,951.19 

 
0.98 % 

Miscellaneous 389.46 200.00 189.46 194.73 % 

Penal Fines  54,000.00 -54,000.00  

Service Fees 590.37 1,200.00 -609.63 49.20 % 

State Aid  4,600.00 -4,600.00  

Tax Revenue 285,635.39 286,000.00 -364.61 99.87 % 

Uncategorized Income  1,800.00 -1,800.00  

Total Income $286,664.03 $352,800.00 $ -66,135.97 81.25 % 

GROSS PROFIT $286,664.03 $352,800.00 $ -66,135.97 81.25 % 

Expenses 

Advertising & Marketing 

 

1,006.29 

 

7,000.00 

 

-5,993.71 

 

14.38 % 

Bank Charges & Fees 44.00 250.00 -206.00 17.60 % 

Capital Expenses 1,274.65 4,000.00 -2,725.35 31.87 % 

Collection Acquisitions 11,018.75 34,200.00 -23,181.25 32.22 % 

Contractual Services 8,298.26 23,400.00 -15,101.74 35.46 % 

Insurance 549.00 3,500.00 -2,951.00 15.69 % 

Legal & Professional Services 8,640.00 7,000.00 1,640.00 123.43 % 

Library Programming 3,012.07 12,600.00 -9,587.93 23.91 % 

Membership 916.46 7,950.00 -7,033.54 11.53 % 

Miscellaneous Expense 60.00  60.00  

Office Supplies & Software 3,675.61 7,000.00 -3,324.39 52.51 % 

Payroll 45,468.66 135,000.00 -89,531.34 33.68 % 

Payroll Taxes/Benefits 22,410.11 32,500.00 -10,089.89 68.95 % 

Professional Development 715.00 6,000.00 -5,285.00 11.92 % 

Rent & Lease 4,327.95 10,500.00 -6,172.05 41.22 % 

Repairs & Maintenance 2,552.47 9,400.00 -6,847.53 27.15 % 

Technology 1,078.03 21,450.00 -20,371.97 5.03 % 

Travel 2,023.25 5,000.00 -2,976.75 40.47 % 

Utilities & Internet 2,430.25 6,600.00 -4,169.75 36.82 % 

Total Expenses $119,500.81 $333,350.00 $ -213,849.19 35.85 % 

NET OPERATING INCOME $167,163.22 $19,450.00 $147,713.22 859.45 % 

NET INCOME $167,163.22 $19,450.00 $147,713.22 859.45 % 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Accrual Basis  Wednesday, June 12, 2019 03:37 PM GMT-7 1/1 



 

Bath Township Public Library 

BUDGET VS. ACTUALS: BTPL FY2019 BUDGET 

January - June, 2019 
 

 

TOTAL 
 

 ACTUAL BUDGET OVER BUDGET % OF BUDGET 

Income 

Donation 

 
888.11 

 
2,500.02 

 
-1,611.91 

 
35.52 % 

Interest 4.10  4.10  

Miscellaneous 389.46 100.02 289.44 389.38 % 

Penal Fines  27,000.00 -27,000.00  

Service Fees 721.02 600.00 121.02 120.17 % 

State Aid  2,299.98 -2,299.98  

Tax Revenue 285,703.25 142,999.98 142,703.27 199.79 % 

Uncategorized Income  900.00 -900.00  

Total Income $287,705.94 $176,400.00 $111,305.94 163.10 % 

GROSS PROFIT $287,705.94 $176,400.00 $111,305.94 163.10 % 

Expenses 

Advertising & Marketing 

 

2,144.97 

 

3,499.98 

 

-1,355.01 

 

61.29 % 

Bank Charges & Fees 44.00 124.98 -80.98 35.21 % 

Capital Expenses 1,605.52 1,999.98 -394.46 80.28 % 

Collection Acquisitions 12,158.84 17,100.00 -4,941.16 71.10 % 

Contractual Services 13,768.15 11,700.00 2,068.15 117.68 % 

Insurance 549.00 1,750.02 -1,201.02 31.37 % 

Legal & Professional Services 10,540.00 3,499.98 7,040.02 301.14 % 

Library Programming 5,204.76 6,300.00 -1,095.24 82.62 % 

Membership 2,917.33 3,975.00 -1,057.67 73.39 % 

Miscellaneous Expense 60.00  60.00  

Office Supplies & Software 3,823.85 3,499.98 323.87 109.25 % 

Payroll 53,629.74 67,500.00 -13,870.26 79.45 % 

Payroll Taxes/Benefits 26,649.79 16,249.98 10,399.81 164.00 % 

Professional Development 834.35 3,000.00 -2,165.65 27.81 % 

Rent & Lease 4,327.95 5,250.00 -922.05 82.44 % 

Repairs & Maintenance 2,643.35 4,699.98 -2,056.63 56.24 % 

Technology 1,078.03 10,725.00 -9,646.97 10.05 % 

Travel 2,091.77 2,500.02 -408.25 83.67 % 

Utilities & Internet 2,937.61 3,300.00 -362.39 89.02 % 

Total Expenses $147,009.01 $166,674.90 $ -19,665.89 88.20 % 

NET OPERATING INCOME $140,696.93 $9,725.10 $130,971.83 1,446.74 % 

NET INCOME $140,696.93 $9,725.10 $130,971.83 1,446.74 % 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Accrual Basis  Wednesday, July 10, 2019 12:58 PM GMT-7 1/1 



 

Directors Report 
 

• Legal & Professional 
o Narcan Law has passed, I am listening to a webinar on Friday, July 12 to learn 

about the implications for the library 
• Staffing 

o We survived vacation season 
o Meeting with the staff to review strategic planning 

• Scheduling 
o 

• Upcoming Programs 
o Summer reading has been very successful for all ages. 
o 

• Community outreach 
o Attended Farmers market. It was a cold day and not many people stopped by 

• Technology 
o No new updates 

• Policy 
o Four FOIA Documents 
o BY‐LAWS 

• Continuing Education 
o 

• Projects 
o Added two new bookshelves, rearranging collection 
o Finalizing strategic planning for board approval 
o Spoke with Victor Township and they have library service in both Laingsburg and St. 

Johns 
o Spoke with Clare about similar libraries 
o Working on response to IRS letter. 

• Statistics 

June 2018 2019 Difference %Difference   

Visit 571 893 +322 81%   

Items checked out 506 1559 +1053 208%   

Computer use 194 152 -42 22%   

New Cards 24 39 +15 23%   

Program Attendance 48 306 +258 538%   

Storytime Attendance 3 46 +43 1433%   

 



 

Youth Services June 2019 Report 

 
Programs 

Storytime Attendance – 46 (no ST on June 14th due to the Strategic Planning Meetings) 

Paws – 44 

Specials for June 
SRP Kick‐off – 61 +3 dogs 

Special guests included: 
Skippyjon Jones (storybook character costume) 
Bath Township Police Officer Michael Lapham and Aiko 
Two new dogs and their handlers from Love on a Leash 

 
Babysitting Workshop – 14 

This class was well attended and brought in teens that do not frequently use the library. Due to its 
popularity, we will repeat this offering a few times a year. 

 

We are creating a babysitting contact list based on the kids who attended the class, with their 
permission, This list will not be posted publicly, but available by request only. Great way to highlight 
the library’s value to the community! 

 
Tie‐dye – 24 

 
Summer Reading 

We have a total of 153 signed up for SRP and still going strong! Additional incentives had to be 
ordered and teens had to be limited to a total of 15 scratch off cards per summer. 

 
Outreach 

Bath Middle School SRP Visit on June 4 ‐ 53 

Meet Up and Eat Up on June 27 – 21 

Meetings/Conferences 
Self‐training on Ploud, using their online videos. 

 

Community Partnerships 
Have spoken with Matt Kreh, pastor at Bath United Methodist Church (and longtime friend) 

regarding possible ways the library and church could partner. 



 

 
 
 
 
 

 

AUTOMATED CLEARING HOUSE (ACH) ARRANGEMENTS AND ELECTRONIC 

TRANSACTIONS OF FUNDS (ETF) 
 

I. Purpose. 

 

The purpose of this policy is to provide a process for addressing use of ACH and 

Electronic Transaction of Funds for the purchase of materials or the payment of 

funds for the Bath Township Public Library (library). 

 

II. Definitions. 

 

A. "Automated clearing house" or "ACH" means a national and 

governmental organization that has authority to process electronic 

payments, including, but not limited to, the national automated clearing 

house association and the federal reserve system. 

 

B. An "ACH arrangement" means the agreement between the 

originator of the ACH transaction and the receiver of an ACH 

transaction. 

 

C. An "ACH transaction" means an electronic payment, debit, or 

credit transfer processed through an automated clearinghouse. 

 

D. An "ACH policy" means the procedures and internal controls as 

determined under this written policy. 
 

E. . “Electronic Transactions Officer” or “ETO” means the person 

designated by the Library to have the authority granted under this 

Policy. 
 

III. Authority to Enter into ACH Arrangements and EFT 

 

A. In accordance with an legal requirements of the local, state or federal 

law, the library board has authorized the library director to act as an 

ETO to enroll the library into ACH arrangements and authorized use of 

EFT for executing payment, debit or credit transfers which are 

processed through an ACH when such actions conform with this policy. 

 

B. The library director responsible for disbursement of funds shall submit 

to the library board documentation detailing the goods or services 

purchased, the cost of the goods or services, the date of the payment. 

 

IV. Responsibility for ACH Agreements 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
A. The library board designates the library director to be responsible for 

ACH arrangements, including payment approval, accounting, reporting 

and for generally overseeing compliance with this ACH policy. 

A.B. The library director is also responsible for submitting 

documentation to the board treasurer who will then present the 

information to the board providing details of the disbursement of funds 

including the goods or services purchased, the cost of the goods or 

services, and the date of the payment and the department levels serviced 

by each payment of public funds made by electronic transfer. This 

report may be contained in the Library’s electronic general ledger 

software system or in a separate report to the Library Board. 
 

V. Internal Accounting Controls for Use of ACH and EFT Transactions 

 

A. Authorized Vendors: The library director shall prepare a list of 

vendors authorized to be paid by ACH transaction and provide that 

list to the treasurer and act as follows:. 

1. The Treasurer initiates the transaction upon receipt of an invoice 

from a vendor on the authorized ACH list identified in Section V.A. 

above. 
 

2. The Treasurer presents the invoices, a list of bills for payment, and 

a separate list of the electronic payments for Library Board approval. The 

Library Board shall approve all ACH invoices before payment. 
 

3. Following Library Board approval, the Treasurer signs the ACH 

invoice, initiates the electronic transaction with the vendor, and makes the 

actual transfer of funds. 
 

4. The Treasurer shall retain all ACH transaction documents for 

audit purposes 
 

A.B. Reporting ACH and EFT Activities: All ACH and EFT 

payment activities with be reported to the treasurer which will 

then be reported. The reports will be presented at the following 

board meeting by the treasurer. 

 

B.C. Paying State and Federal Payroll Taxes: Payment of state 

and federal payroll taxes and other payroll liabilities will be 

paid through a third party as contracted by the board. 

 

D. Receiving ACH and EFT Deposits: When deposits from the state, 

county or federal authorities and from third-party payment processors 

are received the library director shall obtain the amount of the deposit 

for recording and accounting purposes. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
VI. ACH Not Subject to Revised Municipal Finance Act. 

 

An ACH arrangement under 2002 PA 738 is not subject to the Revised Municipal Finance Act, 

2001 PA 34 (MCL 141.2101, et seq.), or to provisions of law or charter concerning the issuance 

of debt by a local unit. 

 

 
 

84828:00001:4296546-1 Formatted: *LBFileStampAtEnd,FSE, Indent: Left: 0" 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CREDIT/DEBIT CARD POLICY 
 

I. Purpose. 

 

The purpose of this policy is to provide a process for addressing use of credit or 

debit cards for the purchase of goods, materials, and services for the Bath 

Township Public Library (library) or the payment of bills. The Policy provides a 

system of internal controls to ensure that the Library complies with all applicable 

laws, including Michigan Public Act 266 of 1995 (Credit Card Transactions). 
 

II. Issuing Cards. 

 
The Library Director is responsible for issuing, accounting for, 

monitoring, retrieving and generally overseeing compliance with the 

Llibrary’s credit card policy. 
 

II. Credit Card Regulations 
 

A. The total combined authorized credit limit of all credit cards shall not 

exceed 5% of the total budget of the local unit for the current fiscal year. The 

Bath Township Library Board (“Library Board”) shall determine the 

maximum authorized limit on any credit card issued to the Library. All credit 

cards shall be issued in the name of the Bath Township Library. 
 

B. The Library Board may include in its budget and pay the balance due 

on any credit cards, including the annual fee and interest. 
 

C. All purchases over must be approved by the Director. 
 

D. For purchases under $ , each Manager shall be permitted to make 

up to three (3) purchases each month without prior approval of the Director as 

long as the Library Board has budgeted for the purchase. After the three (3) 

monthly purchases, any additional purchases must be approved by the Library 

Director. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Commented [AMS1]: This may not be your process 
 

E. All credit cards shall be held in the Director’s Office. Any Manager or 

Manager’s designee may request the use of a credit card from the business 

office. The Manger shall fill out a credit card sheet with the date the credit 

card is needed, the date it will be returned, the purpose and the authorization 

for the use. All credit cards shall be returned to the Business Office. 
 

III. Users. 

 

A. The Library credit card may be used only by an employee of the library 

for the purchase of goods or services for the official business of the library. No 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

employee may use the credit card for purchases that the person lacks authority to 

make. 
 

B. An employee who is issued a credit card is responsible for its 

protection and custody. If a credit or debit card is lost or stolen, the library 

director shall be notified. The entity issuing the lost or stolen credit or debit 

card shall be immediately notified to cancel the card. 
 

C. An employee issued a credit or debit card shall return the credit or 

debit card to the library director upon termination of his or her employment 

with the library. 

 

IV. Procedure. 

 

A. A copy of the receipt shall be submitted to the library director as soon 

as possible after a purchase but not less than one (1) week. If a receipt is not 

available, the employee who used the credit or debit card shall submit a signed 

voucher describing the purchase. This includes the date of purchase, where it 

was purchased, what was purchased, the total cost of the purchase, what it was 

purchased for and the category for which it was spent. Vouchers shall also 

include a statement why a credit card slip was not obtained. All credit card 

receipts or vouchers will be retained for attachment to the monthly credit card 

statement, prior to approval for payment 
 

B.A. An employee who is issued a credit card is responsible for its 

protection and custody. If a credit or debit card is lost or stolen, the library 

director shall be notified. The entity issuing the lost or stolen credit or debit 

card shall be immediately notified to cancel the card. 
 

A. An employee issued a credit or debit card shall return the credit or 

debit card to the library director upon termination of his or her employment 

with the library. 
 

D.B. The library director shall maintain a list of all credit or debit cards 

owned by the library, along with the name of the employee who has been 

issued the credit or debit card, the credit limit established, the date issued, 

and the date returned. Each employee shall initial the list beside his or her 

name to indicate agreement that the creditor debit card has been issued, and 

that the employee has received and read a copy of this policy. 

 

E.C. The library director shall review each credit card statement as soon as 

possible to ensure that transactions comply with this policy. Any 

transactions that appear on the statements that are not documented with a 

credit card slip or a signed voucher shall be immediately investigated. 
Transactions that do not appear to comply with this policy shall be reported 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

to the library board of trustees. 

 

F.D. The library board shall not approve a payment to the entity issuing 

the credit card until all transactions have been verified, including the 

approval of all transaction invoices if issued. 
 

G. The balance, including interest due on an extension of credit 

under the credit card arrangement, shall be paid for within not more 

than 60 days of the initial statement date. 

 

G. If the Library Board holds a regular meeting before the credit 

card invoice must be paid so that no late fees or interest will accrue, the 

credit card invoices shall be verified and approved by the Library Board.  If 

a regular meeting does not occur before the invoice must be paid, the Library 

Board President shall have the authority to verify the transactions and 

approve payment. However, the Library Board shall be given a copy of the 

verified and authorized invoice at the next regular Board meeting. 
 

V. Misuse of Card. 

 

A. Employees who use a Library credit card in a manner contrary to 

this policy shall be subject to the following disciplinary actions 

consistent with current law and Library policy, as deemed 

appropriate by the library director: 
B. verbal counseling 
C. written reprimand 
D. suspension 

E. termination 

F. A. reimbursement to the township for unauthorized 

expenditures. 
VI. Benefits 

Any benefits derived from the use of the credit card shall be the property of the Suttons 

Bay Bingham District Library. 

 

 
84828:00001:4296499-1 



 

BATH TOWNSHIP PUBLIC LIBRARY DETAILED ITEMIZATION 
 

 

LABOR CHARGES  

A. Cost for Searching for, Locating and Examining of Public Records in 
Conjunction with Receiving and Fulfilling a Granted Written Request. 

 
1. Determination of the Hourly wage: 

 

The hourly wage of the lowest paid public employee capable of searching 
for, locating and examining the public records in this particular instance 
regardless of who actually performs the labor. $   

 This labor charge includes fringe benefit costs (up to 50% of the 
applicable labor charge but not more than the actual costs of fringe 
benefits) using the hourly wage identified above and a percentage 
multiplier of  %  (hourly wage x percentage multiplier=$  ) 
 This hourly wage is an overtime rate that was agreed to by the 
requestor in the amount of $ per hour. 

 

2. Determination of total time using increments of 15 minutes with partial 
time rounded down. (So, for 15 minutes, use .25 hours; 30 minutes, use .5 
hours; for 45 minutes use .75 hours).  hours. 

 
 The FOIA Coordinator has determined that failure to charge this fee would 
result in unreasonably high costs to Library because of the nature of the 
request in the particular instance because of the following reasons: 

 
 
 
 
 

Hourly wage: 
$   

 
 
 
 

Total time: 
  hours 

 
A. Total Fee 
(hourly wage x total 
time): 
$   

B. Cost for Separating Exempt Information from Non‐Exempt, including Redaction 
of Documents. 

 
1. For Employee Labor Costs: 

a. Determination of the Hourly wage: 
 

The hourly wage of the lowest paid public employee capable of searching 
for, locating and examining the public records in this particular instance 
regardless of who actually performs the labor. $   

 This labor charge includes fringe benefit costs (up to 50% of the 
applicable labor charge but not more than the actual costs of fringe 
benefits) using the hourly wage identified above and a percentage 
multiplier of  % (hourly wage x percentage multiplier = 
$  ) 
 This fee is an overtime rate that was agreed to by the requestor in the 
amount of $ per hour. 

 
b. Determination of total time using increments of 15 minutes with partial 
time rounded down. (So, for 15 minutes, use .25 hours; 30 minutes, use .5 
hours).  hours. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.a Hourly wage for 
employees: 
$   

 

1.b Total time for 
employees: 
  hours 

1.c Total Employee 
labor charge 
(hourly wage x 
hours): 
$   



 

 
2. For Contracted Labor Costs: 

 

 The FOIA Coordinator has determined that the Library does not employ 
 

a person capable of deleting exempt information from non‐exempt  

information in the particular instance and the work is being performed by  

the following person or firm:  

 

a. Determination of the Hourly wage: 
 

2.a Contracted 
 

The hourly wage of the contracted labor (not to exceed 6 times the State of 
Michigan minimum hourly wage): $   

 This hourly wage is an overtime rate that was agreed to by the 
requestor in the amount of $ per hour. 

labor hourly wage: 
$   

b. Determination of total time using increments of 15 minutes with partial 2.b Contracted 

time rounded down. (So, for 15 minutes, use .25 hours; 30 minutes, use .5 
hours; 45 minutes use .75 hours). hours. 

labor hours: 
   hours 

 The FOIA Coordinator has determined that failure to charge this fee 
 

would result in unreasonably high costs to the Library because of the 2.c Total Fee for 
nature of the request in the particular instance because of the following contracted labor 
reasons: (hourly wage x 

 
 

 
 

 
 

hours): 
$   

C. Cost for Duplication and Publication. 
 

1. Determination of the Hourly wage: 
 

The hourly wage of the lowest paid public employee capable of searching 
for, locating and examining the public records in this particular instance 
regardless of who actually performs the labor. $   

 This labor charge includes fringe benefit costs (up to 50% of the 
applicable labor charge but not more than the actual costs of fringe 
benefits) using the hourly wage identified above and a percentage 
multiplier of  % (hourly wage x percentage multiplier = 
$  ) 
 This hourly wage is an overtime rate that was agreed to by the 
requestor in the amount of $ per hour. 

 
2. Determination of total time using increments of one (1) minute with partial 
time rounded down. hours. 

 
 

Hourly wage: 
$   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Total time: 
   hours 

 
C. Total Fee (hourly 
wage x hours) 
$   

 



 

Other Actual Costs  

D. Costs for Paper Copies. 
The actual total incremental cost of necessary duplication and publication using 
the most economical means available: 
1. Not to exceed $.10 per sheet for 8 ½ by 11 or 8 ½ by 14 inch paper: 

$ per sheet x  number of sheets = $  . 
2. Other paper sizes: 

$ per sheet x  number of sheets = $  . 

D. Total Fee (add 
totals for all sizes of 
paper): 
$   

E. Costs for Nonpaper Physical Media. 
The actual and most reasonably economical cost of the computer disc, flash 
drives, computer tape or other similar media: 

$ per item x  number of items . 

 
E. Total Fee: 
$   

F. Cost of Mailing: 
1. The actual cost of mailing: $   

2. Fee for the least expensive postal delivery confirmation: $   

3. Costs for the envelope or box for mailing $  . 
 

 The requestor has stipulated to expedited shipping and/or insurance and 
those costs are listed above as the actual costs of mailing. 

 
 

F. Total Fee: (add 
all 3 costs): 

$   

Costs for Providing Documents Available on the Website  

 
G. The Library has notified the requestor in its written response that all or a 
portion of the requested information is available on its website. The following is a 
detailed itemization of cost of the information that is available on the website: 

 
1. Labor Costs – Searching for, locating and examining: 

a. Determination of Hourly wage: 
 

The hourly wage of the lowest paid public employee capable of 
searching for, locating and examining the public records in this 
particular instance regardless of who actually performs the labor. 
$   

 This labor charge includes fringe benefit costs (up to 50% of the 
applicable labor charge but not more than the actual costs of fringe 
benefits) using the hourly wage identified above and a multiplier of 
  % (hourly wage x percentage multiplier =$  ) 
 This fee is an overtime rate that was agreed to by the requestor in 
the amount of $ per hour. 

 
b. Determination of total time using increments of 15 minutes with partial 
time rounded down hours. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Total fee (hourly 
wage x hours): 
$   



 

 
 

2. Labor Costs: Copying or Duplication: 
a. Determination of Hourly wage: 

 

The hourly wage of the lowest paid public employee capable of 
searching for, locating and examining the public records in this 
particular instance regardless of who actually performs the labor. 
$   

 This labor charge includes fringe benefit costs (up to 50% of the 
applicable labor charge but not more than the actual costs of fringe 
benefits) using the hourly wage identified above and a multiplier of 
  % (hourly wage x percentage multiplier = $  ) 
 This hourly wage is an overtime rate that was agreed to by the 
requestor in the amount of $ per hour. 

 
b. Determination of total time using increments of minutes with 

partial time rounded down.  hours. 
 

3. The actual total incremental cost of necessary duplication and publication: 
a. Not to exceed $.10 per sheet for 8 ½ by 11 or 8 ½ by 14 in paper: 
$ per sheet x  number of sheets = $  . 
b. Other paper sizes: 
$ per sheet x  number of sheets = $  . 

 
4. Costs for Nonpaper Physical Media 

$ per item x  number of items. 
 

5. Cost of Mailing: 
a. The actual cost of mailing in a reasonably commercial and justifiable 
manner: $   

b. The charge for the least expensive postal delivery confirmation: 
$   

c. Costs for the envelope or box for mailing. $   

 
 The requestor has stipulated to expedited shipping and/or insurance and those 
costs are listed above as the actual costs of mailing. 

 
 

2. Total fee (hourly 
wage x hours): 

$   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. Total cost for 
paper copies: 

$   

 
4. Total cost for 
nonpaper physical 
media: 

$   

5. Total cost of 
Mailing: 

$   

G. Total Cost for 
Providing 
Documents: 
$   

 Total Fee: 

1. Subtotal Charges: Add Items A – F Above: $   

2. Subtotal with Website Document Charges from G above if Total Fee with 

applicable website records 
included if 

 applicable 
 $  . 



 

 
 

Waivers or Reductions  

Public Interest Reduction or Waiver. 
The FOIA Coordinator may reduce or waive the imposition of fees if the FOIA 
Coordinator determines that a waiver or reduction of the fee is in the public 
interest because searching for or furnishing copies of the public record can be 
considered as primarily benefiting the general public.  Fee waiver granted or 
granted in part for a reduction of $   

 

 
Subtract 
$   

Waiver of Fees of First $20.00. 
A public record search shall be made and a copy of a public record shall be 
furnished without charge for the first $20.00 of the fee for each request by either 
of the following: 
1. Indigency: Certain individuals who submit an affidavit stating that the 
individual is indigent or receiving public assistance as stated more fully in the FOIA 
and the Library’s Procedures and Guidelines.  FOIA Coordinator Approves the 
Waiver. 
2. Certain Non‐Profit Organizations. A non‐profit organization formally 
designated by the state to carry out activities under subtitle C of the developmental 
disabilities assistance and bill of rights act of 2000, and the protection and advocacy 
for individuals with mental illness act as stated more fully in FOIA and the Library’s 
Procedures and Guidelines.  FOIA Coordinator Approves the Waiver. 

Subtract Waiver of 
Fee: 
$   

Reduction for Late Response: If the Library does not respond to a written request 
in a timely manner, the Library shall reduce the charges for labor costs by 5% for 
each day the Library exceeds the time permitted, with a maximum 50% reduction. 
However, this reduction only applies (1) if the late response was willful and 
intentional or (2) or the request contained the language required by the FOIA for 
such reduction (See Procedures and Guidelines).  number of days x 5% of 
labor costs = $   

 
Subtract 
$ of labor 
charges (up to 50% 
of labor costs). 

Final Total After Any Applicable Reductions or Waivers:  
$   

Deposit: 

 
 The Library requires a deposit of $ (1/2 of the estimated fee) and this 
total estimated fee exceeds $50.00. 

 
 The Library requires a deposit of $ (100% of the estimated fee) 
because this request meets the statutory requirements for failing to pay for prior 
requests under Section 4(11) of the FOIA. 

 

 
Deposit Amount: 

 
$   

 
 Deposit Paid on 

Total Fee $   

- Deposit Amount $   

=   Remaining Fee Due of $   

 
 Fee Paid on     

 

 
Total Fee Due: 

 

 
$   



 

BATH TOWNSHIP PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 

WRITTEN PUBLIC SUMMARY OF THE 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT PROCEDURES AND GUIDELINES 
 

 

The Bath Township Public Library (“Library”) adopts this written public summary pursuant to 

the requirements of Section 4(4) of the Michigan Freedom of Information Act, 1976 PA 442 

(“FOIA”) so that the public will understand the Library’s Procedures and Guidelines for 

processing FOIA requests. This is a summary of the Procedures and Guidelines. A complete 

copy of the Procedures and Guidelines is available at the Library located at 14033 Webster Road, 

Bath, Michigan 48808 or on the website at https://bath.ploud.net/. 

 

A. How Can I Request a Public Record? 

 

• A person (except those persons incarcerated in state, county or federal correctional 

facilities), may request public records. 

• The requestor must send a written request for the public record to the Library. A request 

can be made through a letter, in person, or sent by electronic transmission. The requests 

should be directed to  the  FOIA  Coordinator.  The contact information is   as follows:   

  . 

• The requestor will not be required to use a specific form or format, but requests must 

identify the public record sufficiently to allow the Library to find the requested record. 

• The Library may, but is not required to, respond to a verbal request. However, if the 

Library believes the information is available on its website, the Library will inform the 

requestor of the website location where practicable and to the best of his or her 

knowledge. 

 

B. When Can I Expect a Response? 

 

• Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, the Library will respond or seek a deposit within 5 

business days after it receives the request. However, the Library may extend that time 

period by 10 business days. 

• Please keep in mind that a request sent by e-mail or other electronic means is not 

considered received until 1 business day after it is transmitted. If the request is sent to a 

spam or junk mail folder, it is not considered received until 1 day after it is discovered. 

 

C. How Can I Understand the Response? 

 

• If the Library grants a written request in full, the requestor will receive a notice indicating 

that it has been granted. 

• However, if the request is denied or denied in part, the Library shall provide any or all the 

following information, depending upon the reason for the denial: 



2  

o An explanation of the basis that the public record, or portion of that public record, 
is exempt from disclosure, including a description of the information that is 
separated or deleted. 

o A certificate that the public record does not exist under the name given by the 
requestor or by another name reasonably known to the Library. 

o A full explanation of the requesting person’s right to (1) submit to the Library 
Board a written appeal; or (2) seek judicial review of the denial under Section 10 
of the FOIA. (See below for more details). 

o Notice of the right to receive attorneys’ fees and damages if a court determines 
that the Library has not complied and orders disclosure of all or a portion of a 
public record. 

 

• If a request is granted in part or granted in full, the Library will require payment before 

providing documents. 

 

D. What if I Request Documents Available on the Website? 

 

• If documents are available on the website, to the degree practicable, the response will 

include a specific webpage address where the requested information is available. 

• The Library will inform the requestor of the additional charge to receive copies of the 

public records that are available on its website. 

 

E. What Fees Will the Library Charge? 

 

• The FOIA Coordinator will provide a detailed itemization of costs. 

• For labor costs, the fee shall not exceed the sum of the following components: 

 

o Hourly Wage. The Library will not charge more than the hourly wage of its 
lowest-paid employee capable of searching for, locating, and examining the 

public records; separating and deleting exempt information from non-exempt 

information; and for duplication and publication regardless of whether that person 
is available or who actually performs the labor, except if the Library does not 

employ a person capable of separating and deleting exempt information from non- 
exempt information, it may treat necessary contracted labor costs for that purpose 

in the same manner as employee labor costs but may not exceed 6 times the State 
minimum hourly wage. 

 
o Time Increments: The fee will be charged in fifteen (15) minute increments, with 

all partial time rounded down, except the labor fee for duplication and 
publication, which shall be charged in one (1) minute increments. 

 

o Determination of Unreasonably High Labor Costs. The fee for searching for, 
locating and examining public records and separating exempt information from 
non-exempt information (including redacting) will not be charged, unless failure 
to charge a fee would result in unreasonably high costs to the Library because of 



3  

the nature of the request in the particular instance, and the Library specifically 

identifies the nature of these unreasonably high costs. 

 
o Overtime. Overtime wages shall not be included unless agreed to by the  

requestor. 

 
o Description of Charge. The detailed itemization will include both the hourly  

wage and the number of hours charged. 

 

o Fringe Benefit Costs. The Library may also add up to 50% to the applicable labor 
charge amount (but may not exceed actual costs) to cover or partially cover the 
cost of fringe benefits if it clearly notes the percentage multiplier used to account 
for benefits, unless a requestor wants records that are available on the website. In 
which case, the fringe benefit multiplier can be greater than the 50% limitation. 

 

• For public records provided to the requestor on nonpaper physical media (discs, flash 

drives, e-mails), the Library may charge the actual and most reasonably economical cost 

of the media. 

• For paper copies, the Library may charge the actual total incremental cost of necessary 

duplication or publication not to exceed $.10 per page (single or double sided) for 8½ by 

11 inch paper or 8½ by 14 inch paper. The Library will charge the actual cost of copies 

made on paper of a different size. The Library will use double-sided printing, if cost 

saving and available. 

• The Library may charge the actual cost of mailing and the least expensive form of postal 

delivery confirmation. 

 

F. Will a Deposit be Required? 

 

• The Library may require a good-faith deposit of ½ of the estimated fee if the entire fee 

estimate or charge authorized under the FOIA exceeds $50.00, based on a good-faith 

calculation of the total estimated fee. 

• The Library will also provide a best efforts, nonbinding estimate of the time frame it will 

take the Library to provide the public records to the requestor. 

• If the Library has granted a prior request but has not been paid in full, the Library may 

require a deposit of up to 100% of the estimated fee if all of the following apply: 
o The final fee for the prior written request was not more than 105% of the 

estimated fee. 

o The public records made available contained the information being sought in the 
prior written request and are still in the Library’s possession. 

o The public records were made available to the individual, subject to payment, 
within the time frame estimate described Section 4(7) of the FOIA. 

o Ninety days have passed since the Library notified the individual in writing that 
the public records were available for pick up or mailing. 

o The individual is unable to show proof of prior payment to the Library. 
o The Library calculates a Detailed Itemization that is the basis for the current 

written request’s increased estimated fee deposit. 



4  

 

The Library shall no longer require an increased estimated fee deposit if any of the 

following apply: 

o The individual is able to show proof of prior payment in full to the Library; 

o The Library is subsequently paid in full for the applicable prior written request; or 
o Three hundred sixty-five days have passed since the individual made the written 

request for which full payment was not remitted to the Library. 

 

G. Am I Entitled to a Wavier or Reduction of Fees? 

 

• A reduction of the fee by $20.00 is available to certain individuals who submit an 

affidavit stating they are indigent and receiving public assistance, or if not receiving 

public assistance, stating facts showing in ability to pay because of indigency. For this 

reduction to apply, the individual may not have received discounted fees twice during 

that calendar year and the person may not be requesting on behalf of parties who are 

paying to make the request. 

• A reduction of the fee by $20.00 is also available to certain non-profit organizations 

formally carrying out activities under subtitle C of the developmental disabilities 

assistance and bill of rights act of 2000, and the protection and advocacy for individuals 

with mental illness act, provided that the request is made on behalf of the organization or 

its clients, is made for a reason consistent with the laws under Section 931 of the mental 

health code and is accompanied by documentation of its designation by the state. 

• The FOIA Coordinator may reduce or waive the imposition of fees if the FOIA 

Coordinator determines that a waiver or reduction of the fee is in the public interest 

because searching for or furnishing copies of the public record can be considered as 

primarily benefiting the general public. 

• If the Library does not respond to a written request in a timely manner as required by the 

FOIA, the Library shall reduce the charges for labor costs by 5% for each day the Library 

exceeds the time permitted, with a maximum 50% reduction, if the late response was 

willful and intentional or the written request included specific language as set forth more 

fully in the Procedures and Guidelines. 

 

H. How Can I Appeal a Decision to Deny All or Part of My Request? 

 

• If a requestor desires to appeal all or part of a decision to deny a request, the requestor 

must submit to the Bath Township Public Library Board (“Library Board”) a written 

appeal that specifically states the word “appeal” and identifies the reason or reasons for 

reversal of the denial. 

• The Library Board is not considered to have received a written appeal until the first 

regularly scheduled meeting after submission of the written appeal. 

• The Library will respond within 10 business days by reversing the disclosure denial, 

upholding the denial, revising in part and upholding in part the denial or issuing a 10 

business day extension. 



5  

I. How Can I Appeal a Determination of the Fee or Deposit Amount? 

 

• The requestor may submit to the Library Board a written appeal for a fee reduction that 

specifically states the word “appeal” and identifies how the required fee exceeds the 

amount permitted under the Procedures and Guidelines or Section 4 of the FOIA. 

• The Library Board is not considered to have received a written appeal until the first 

regularly scheduled meeting after submission of the written appeal. 

• The Library will respond within 10 business days by waiving the fee, reducing the fee 

and explaining the basis for the remaining fee, upholding the fee or issuing a 10 business 

day extension. 

 

J. Can I File a Lawsuit Regarding the Denial of a FOIA Request? 

 

• If the Library Board fails to respond to a written appeal or if the Library Board upholds 

all or a portion of the disclosure denial that is the subject of the written appeal, the 

requestor may seek judicial review of the nondisclosure by commencing a civil action 

within 180 days after the Library’s final determination to deny a request. A requestor  

may also commence a civil action in the circuit court to compel the Library’s disclosure 

of the public records within 180 days after the Library’s final determination to deny a 

request. The requestor is not required to appeal the denial to the Library Board before 

commencing the civil action. 

• If a person prevails in an action regarding the denial of a request, the court shall award 

reasonable attorneys fees, costs and disbursements. If the person prevails in part, the 

court may award all or a portion of the attorneys’ fees, costs and disbursements. If the 

court determines the FOIA was arbitrarily or capriciously violated, the court shall order a 

civil fine of $1,000.00 to be paid to the state treasury. The court may also award actual, 

compensatory or punitive damages. 

 

K Can I File a Lawsuit Regarding the Fee Charged For a FOIA Request? 

 

• A requestor may commence a civil action in the circuit court for a fee reduction if the 

Library (1) failed to respond to a written appeal or (2) issued a determination of a written 

appeal. This action must be filed within 45 days after receiving notice of the 

determination of an appeal to the Library Board. The requester must file an appeal for a 

fee reduction before commencing a circuit court action. 

• If a person prevails in an action by receiving a reduction of 50% or more of the total fee, 

the court may award all or a portion of the reasonable attorneys’ fees. If the court 

determines FOIA was arbitrarily or capriciously violated, the court shall order a civil fine 

of $500.00 to be paid to the state treasury. The court may also award actual, 

compensatory or punitive damages. 

 
84828:00001:4018977-1 



 

BATH TOWNSHIP PUBLIC LIBRARY 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT PROCEDURES AND GUIDELINES 
 

I. PURPOSE. 

 

The Bath Township Public Library (“Library”) adopts the public policy set forth in the Michigan 

Freedom of Information Act, 1976 PA 442 (“FOIA”), that all persons, except those persons 

incarcerated in state, county or federal correctional facilities, are entitled to full and complete 

information regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of those who represent them 

as public officials and public employees, consistent with the FOIA. Access to information is 

important so that people may fully participate in the democratic process. These Procedures and 

Guidelines are enacted in compliance with the requirements set forth in Section 4(4) of the 

FOIA. 

 

II. FOIA COORDINATOR. 

 

The Library Director shall be the FOIA Coordinator. The FOIA Coordinator will respond to 

requests in accordance with the FOIA. An employee of the Library who receives a request for a 

public record must promptly forward that request to the FOIA Coordinator. The FOIA 

Coordinator is responsible for accepting, processing and approving a denial of a request and 

signing the written notice of denial. The FOIA Coordinator may designate another individual to 

act on his or her behalf in accepting and processing requests for the Library’s public records, and 

in approving a denial. 

 

III. REQUEST REQUIRED. 

 

A. Requestor; Public Record. An individual, corporation, limited liability company, 

partnership, firm, organization, association, governmental entity, or other legal entity, 

except those persons incarcerated in state, county or federal correctional facilities, may 

request public records from the Library. “Public Record” has the meaning as defined in 

Section 2(e) of the FOIA. 

 

B. Verbal Requests. The Library may, but is not required to, provide public records 

in response to a verbal request, unless such verbal request is for information that the 

Library believes is available on its website. In such case, an employee, where practicable 

and to the best of his or her knowledge, shall inform the requestor about the pertinent 

website where the information is available. 

 

C. Written Requests. Except as provided in Section III.B above, a person desiring to 

inspect, copy or receive a copy of a public record shall make a written request for the 

public record to the Library. A request can be made through a letter, in person, or sent by 

electronic transmission. 

 

1. Where to Send the Request. Whenever possible, requests for public 

records should be directed to the following recipients so that the information can 

reach the FOIA Coordinator: 



2  

 

a. By mail or in person: 

 

Bath Township Public Library 

Attn: FOIA Coordinator 

Address: P.O. Box 368 

 Bath, MI 48808 

 
 

b. By e-mail: info@bathtownshippubliclibrary.org 
 

c. By fax: 517-641-7112 
 

2. Sufficient Description. Requests in writing must identify the public  

record sufficiently to allow the Library to find the requested record. If not, the 

request may be denied on that basis. 

 

3. Requester Contact Information Required. A request from a person must 

include the following (unless the request is from an individual who qualifies as 

indigent under Section 4(2)(a) of the FOIA): 

 

a. the requesting person’s complete name, address, and contact 

information, and 

 

b. if the request is made by a person other than an individual, the 

complete name, address, and contact information of the person’s agent 

who is an individual. 

 

An address must be written in compliance with United States Postal Service 

addressing standards. Contact information must include a valid telephone number 

or electronic mail address. 

 

4. Electronic Transmissions. For requests sent by electronic transmission,  

the following shall apply: 

 

a. Electronic Transmissions. A written request made by facsimile, 

electronic mail, or other electronic transmission is not received by the 

Library’s FOIA coordinator until 1 business day after the electronic 

transmission is made. 

 

b. Spam or Junk Mail Folder. If a written request is sent by  

electronic mail and delivered to the Library’s spam or junk mail folder, the 

request is not received until 1 day after the Library first becomes aware of 

the written request. The Library shall note in its records both the time a 

written request is delivered to its spam or junk mail folder and the time the 

Library first becomes aware of that request. The FOIA Coordinator shall 



3  

be responsible for routinely monitoring the spam and junk mail folders in 

order to determine whether they contain any FOIA requests. 

 

5. Specify Format. The requestor may specify whether he or she would like 

to inspect, receive paper copies, or receive the public records on nonpaper 

physical media. The Library is only required to comply with the request for 

specified nonpaper physical media if it has the technological capability necessary 

to provide the public records on the requested nonpaper physical media in the 

particular instance. 

 

6. Subscription. A person has a right to subscribe to future issuances of 

public records that are created, issued, or disseminated on a regular basis. A 

subscription shall be valid for up to 6 months, at the request of the subscriber, and 

shall be renewable. 

 

IV. PROCEDURES FOR RESPONDING TO WRITTEN FOIA REQUESTS. 

 

A. Response. Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the person making  the 

request, the Library shall respond to a request within 5 business days after it receives the 

request by: 

 

1. Granting the request (which would include notifying the requestor that all 

or a portion of the public records requested are available on the website, if 

applicable); 

 

2. Issuing a written notice to the requesting person denying the request; 

 

3. Granting the request in part and issuing a written notice to the requesting 

person denying the request in part (which would include notifying the requestor 

that all or a portion of the public records requested are available on the website if 

applicable); or 

 

4. Issuing a notice extending for not more than 10 business days the period 

during which the Library shall respond to the request. 

 

The Library’s written response shall be considered the final determination regarding the 

FOIA request. 

 

B. Understanding the Library’s Response. The Library has an obligation to respond 

as required under the FOIA. If the Library grants a written request in full, the requestor 

will receive a notice indicating that it has been granted. However, if the request is denied 

or denied in part, the Library shall provide the following information: 

 

1 Pursuant to Section 13 of the FOIA, the Library may  exempt  certain 

documents from disclosure. The FOIA Coordinator will review the request to 

determine if any exemptions apply. The FOIA Coordinator may request 



4  

assistance from the Library’s Attorney regarding the application of exemptions.  

If exempt, the Library shall provide an explanation of the basis under this act or 

other statute for the determination that the public record, or portion of that public 

record, is exempt from disclosure, if that is the reason for denying all or a portion 

of the request. 

 

2. A certificate that the public record does not exist under the name given by 

the requestor or by another name reasonably known to the Library, if that is the 

reason for denying the request or a portion of the request. The denial letter may 

indicate that the letter serves as the certificate as required by the FOIA. 

 

3. A description of a public record or information on a public record that is 

separated or deleted pursuant to Section 14 of the FOIA, if a separation or 

deletion is made. 

 

4. A full explanation of the requesting person’s right to do either of the 

following: 

 

a. Submit to the Library Board a written appeal that specifically 

states the word “appeal” and identifies the reason or reasons for reversal of 

the disclosure denial; or 

 

b. Seek judicial review of the denial under Section 10 of the FOIA. 

 

5. Notice of the right to receive attorneys’ fees and damages as provided in 

Section 10 of the FOIA, MCL 15.240, if, after judicial review, the court 

determines that the Library has not complied and orders disclosure of all or a 

portion of a public record. 

 

C. No Obligation to Create Records. The FOIA does not require the Library to  

make a compilation, summary, or report of information. Further, the Library is not 

required to create a new public record in order to respond to a request. 

 

D. Documents Available on Website. If the FOIA Coordinator knows or has reason  

to know that all or a portion of the requested information is available on its website, the 

Library shall notify the requestor in its written response. The written response, to the 

degree practicable in the specific instance, shall include a specific webpage address 

where the requested information is available. 

 

If all or a portion of the requested records are available on the website and the Library  

has included the website address in its written response but the requestor wants the public 

records in a paper format or other nonpaper physical media, the Library shall provide the 

public records in the specified format. On the detailed itemization, the Library shall 

separate the requested public records that are available on its website from those that are 

not available on the website and shall inform the requestor of the additional charge to 

receive copies of the public records that are available on its website. 



5  

V. FEES. 

 

The Library may charge a fee for a public record search, for the necessary copying of a 

public record for inspection, or for providing a copy of a public record because it has 

established, made publicly available, and follows these Procedures and Guidelines and 

the FOIA. The fee shall be limited to actual mailing costs and to the actual incremental 

cost of duplication or publication including labor; the cost of search, examination and 

review; and the deletion and separation of exempt information from non-exempt 

information as set forth more fully in these Procedures and Guidelines. The FOIA 

Coordinator shall provide a detailed itemization of costs on a standard form, as required 

under Section 4(4) of the FOIA (“Detailed Itemization”). The total fee shall not exceed 

the sum of the following components: 

 

A. Labor Costs: 

 

1. Searching for, Locating and Examining. 
 

a. The Library may charge for searching for, locating and examining 

public records in conjunction with receiving and fulfilling a granted 

written request. 

 

b. The Library shall not charge more than the hourly wage of its 

lowest-paid employee capable of searching for, locating, and examining 

the public records in the particular instance regardless of whether that 

person is available or who actually performs the labor. 

 

c. These labor costs shall be estimated and charged in increments of 

15 minutes, with all partial time increments rounded down. 

 

2. Separating and Deleting Exempt from Non-Exempt: 
 

a. For services performed by an employee of the Library, the Library 

shall not charge more than the hourly wage of its lowest-paid employee 

capable of separating and deleting exempt information from non-exempt 

information in the particular instance, regardless of whether that person is 

available or who actually performs the labor. All references in these 

Procedures and Guidelines to separating and deleting exempt information 

from non-exempt information shall refer to the separation and deletion 

requirements set forth in Section 14 of the FOIA, MCL 15.244. 

 

b. If the Library does not employ a person capable of separating and 

deleting exempt information from non-exempt information in the 

particular instance, it may treat necessary contracted labor costs used for 

the separating and deleting of exempt information from non-exempt 

information in the same manner as employee labor costs when calculating 

charges under this subdivision if all of the following occur: 



6  

1) The Library’s FOIA Coordinator determines on a case-by- 

case basis that the Library does not employ a person capable of 

separating and deleting exempt information from non-exempt 

information. 

 

2) The Library clearly notes the name of the contracted person 

or firm on the Detailed Itemization. 

 

3) Total labor costs calculated for contracted labor costs shall 

not exceed an amount equal to 6 times the state minimum hourly 

wage rate. 

 

c. These labor costs shall be estimated and charged in increments of 

15 minutes, with all partial time increments rounded down. 

 

d. The Library shall not charge for labor directly associated with 

redaction if it knows or has reason to know that it previously redacted the 

public record in question and the redacted version is still in the Library’s 

possession. 

 

f. If the Library directly or  indirectly  administers  or  maintains an 

official internet presence, any public records available to the general 

public on that internet site at the time the request is made are exempt from 

this labor charge. 

 

3. Duplication or Publication Labor Charges. 
 

a. The Library may charge labor costs for duplication and 

publication, including making paper copies, making digital copies, or 

transferring digital public records to be given to the requestor on nonpaper 

physical media or through the internet or other electronic means as 

stipulated by the requestor. 

 

b. The Library shall not charge more than the hourly wage of its 

lowest-paid employee capable of necessary duplication or publication in 

the particular instance, regardless of whether that person is available or 

who actually performs the labor. 

 

c. Labor costs shall be estimated and charged in increments of one 

(1) minute, with all partial time increments rounded down. 

 

4. Fringe Benefit Costs. The Library may also add up to 50% to the 

applicable labor charge amount to cover or partially cover the cost of fringe 

benefits if it clearly notes the percentage multiplier used to account for benefits in 

the Detailed Itemization. Subject to the 50% limitation, the Library shall not 



7  

charge more than the actual cost of fringe benefits, and overtime wages shall not 

be used in calculating the cost of fringe benefits. 

 

If all or a portion of the requested records are available on the website and the 

Library has included the website address in its written response but the requestor 

wants the public records in a paper format or other nonpaper physical media, the 

Library shall provide the public records in the specified format but may use a 

fringe benefit multiplier greater than the 50% limitation, not to exceed the actual 

costs of providing the information in the specified format. 

 

5. Overtime Wages. Overtime wages shall not be included in the calculation 

of labor costs unless overtime is specifically stipulated by the requestor and 

clearly noted on the Detailed Itemization. 

 

6. Itemization. All labor fee components shall be itemized using both the 

hourly wage and the number of hours charged on the Detailed Itemization. 

 

7. Unreasonably High Costs. The labor fee shall not be charged for (1) 

searching for, locating and examining of public records, or (2) the cost of the 

deletion and separation of exempt information from non-exempt information, 

unless failure to charge a fee would result in unreasonably high costs to the 

Library because of the nature of the request in the particular instance, and the 

Library specifically identifies the nature of these unreasonably high costs. The 

FOIA Coordinator has authority to determine when the costs are unreasonably 

high in a particular instance, including, but not limited to, instances when the 

costs would be excessive and beyond the normal or usual amounts for responding 

to a request. In doing so, the FOIA Coordinator may take into account 

considerations such as the volume and complexity of the FOIA request as well as 

the Library’s particular fiscal condition at the time of the request or any other 

conditions authorized by law. 

 

B. Other Costs. 

 

1. Nonpaper Physical Media. Costs for providing records on nonpaper 

physical media. 

 

a. The requestor may stipulate that the public records be provided on 

nonpaper physical media, electronically mailed, or otherwise 

electronically provided to him or her in lieu of paper copies. The Library 

is not required to provide the documents on nonpaper physical media if it 

lacks the technological capability necessary to provide records on the 

requested particular nonpaper physical media. 

 

b. For public records provided to the requestor on nonpaper physical 

media, the Library may charge the actual and most reasonably economical 

cost of the computer discs, computer tapes, or other digital or similar 



8  

media. The Library may use (but is not required to) a computer disc, 

thumb drive or other nonphysical media provided by the requestor but 

only if it is provided in its original packaging. Because the safety and 

security of the Library’s computers and network is of important public 

interest, the Library may take that security interest into account when 

determining the means of providing the documents on nonpaper physical 

media. 

 

2. Costs for Providing Paper Copies. 
 

a. For paper copies of public records provided to the requestor, the 

Library may charge the actual total incremental cost of necessary 

duplication or publication, not including labor. 

 

b. The cost of paper copies shall be calculated as a total cost per sheet 

of paper and shall be itemized and noted in a manner that expresses both 

the cost per sheet and the number of sheets provided. 

 

c. The fee shall not exceed 10 cents per sheet of paper for copies of 

public records made on 8½ by 11 inch paper or 8½ by 14 inch paper. For 

all other paper sizes, the Library may charge the actual total incremental 

cost of duplication or publication, not including labor. 

 

d. The Library shall utilize the most economical means available for 

making copies of public records, including using double-sided printing, if 

cost saving and available. 

 

3. Mailing Costs. 
 

a. The Library shall charge the actual cost of mailing, if any, for 

sending the public records in a reasonably economical and justifiable 

manner. 

 

b. The Library shall not charge more for expedited shipping or 

insurance unless specifically stipulated by the requestor, but may 

otherwise charge for the least expensive form of postal delivery 

confirmation when mailing public records. 

 

C. Statutory Fees. The fees set forth in this Section V do not apply to public records 

prepared under an act or statute specifically authorizing the sale of those public 

records to the public, or if the amount of the fee for providing a copy of the public 

record is otherwise specifically provided by an act or statute. 



9  

D. Fees Paid Before Providing Documents. The Library shall require that all fees be 

paid in full before providing records in response to granted or granted in part 

written requests. 

 

VI. DEPOSIT. 

 

A. Deposit. In either the Library’s initial response or subsequent response as 

described under Section 5(2)(d), the Library may require a good-faith deposit before 

providing the public records to the requestor if the entire fee estimate or charge 

authorized the FOIA exceeds $50.00, based on a good-faith calculation of the total. The 

deposit shall not exceed ½ of the total estimated fee, and the Library’s request for a 

deposit shall be included in the Detailed Itemization. The response shall also contain a 

best efforts estimate by the Library regarding the time frame it will take the Library to 

comply with the law in providing the public records to the requestor. The time frame 

estimate is nonbinding upon the Library, but the Library shall provide the estimate in 

good faith and strive to be reasonably accurate and to provide the public records in a 

manner based on this state’s public policy under Section 1 and the nature of the request in 

the particular instance. If the Library does not respond in a timely manner as required by 

the FOIA, it is not relieved from its requirements to provide proper fee calculations and 

time frame estimates in any tardy responses. Providing an estimated time frame does not 

relieve the Library from any of the other requirements of this act. 

 

B. Increased Deposit For Prior Unpaid Requests. After the Library has granted and 

fulfilled a written request from an individual under this act, if the Library has not been 

paid in full the total amount for the copies of public records that the Library made 

available to the individual as a result of that written request, the Library may require a 

deposit of up to 100% of the estimated fee before it begins a full public record search for 

any subsequent written request from that individual if all of the following apply: 

 

1. The final fee for the prior written request was not more than 105% of the 

estimated fee. 

 

2. The public records made available contained the information being sought 

in the prior written request and are still in the Library’s possession. 

 

3. The public records were made available to the individual, subject to 

payment, within the time frame estimate described Section 4(7) of the FOIA. 

 

4. Ninety days have passed since the Library notified the individual in 

writing that the public records were available for pick up or mailing. 

 

5. The individual is unable to show proof of prior payment to the Library. 

 

6. The Library calculates a Detailed Itemization that is the basis for the 

current written request’s increased estimated fee deposit. 



10  

The Library shall no longer require an increased estimated fee deposit from an individual 

described above if any of the following apply: 

 

1. The individual is able to show proof of prior payment in full to the 

Library; 

 

2. The Library is subsequently paid in full for the applicable prior written 

request; or 

 

3. Three hundred sixty-five days have passed since the individual made the 

written request for which full payment was not remitted to the Library. 

 

C. Payment of Deposit; Abandonment of Request. If a deposit that is required under 

Subsection 4(8) or 4(11) of the FOIA (as described in Subsections VI.A and B above) is 

not received by the public body within 45 days from receipt by the requesting person of 

the notice that a deposit is required, and if the requesting person has not filed an appeal of 

the deposit amount, the request shall be considered abandoned by the requesting person 

and the public body is no longer required to fulfill the request. This notice of a deposit 

requirement is considered received 3 days after it is sent, regardless of the means of 

transmission. Notice of a deposit requirement will include notice of the date by which the 

deposit must be received, which date is 48 days after the date the notice is sent. 

 

VII. WAIVER OR REDUCTION OF FEES. 

 

A. Waiver of Fees of First $20.00. A public record search shall be made and a copy 

of a public record shall be furnished without charge for the first $20.00 of the fee 

for each request by either of the following: 

 

1. Indigency. An individual who is entitled to information under this act and 

who submits an affidavit stating that the individual is indigent and receiving 

specific public assistance or, if not receiving public assistance, stating facts 

showing inability to pay the cost because of indigency. 

 

a. If the requestor is eligible for a requested discount, the Library 

shall fully note the discount on the Detailed Itemization. 

 

b. If a requestor is ineligible for the discount, the Library shall inform 

the requestor specifically of the reason for ineligibility in the Library’s 

written response. An individual is ineligible for this fee reduction if any of 

the following apply: 

 

1) The individual has previously received discounted copies 

of public records from the Library twice during that calendar year. 

 

2) The individual requests the information in conjunction 

with outside parties who are offering or providing payment or 



11  

other remuneration to the individual to make the request, as 

verified by an affidavit executed by the requestor. 

 

2. Certain Non-Profit Organizations. A non-profit organization formally 

designated by the state to carry out activities under subtitle C of the 

developmental disabilities assistance and bill of rights act of 2000, Public Law 

106-402, and the protection and advocacy for individuals with mental illness act, 

Public Law 99-319, or their successors, if the request meets all of the following 

requirements: 

 

a. Is made directly on behalf of the organization or its clients. 

 

b. Is made for a reason wholly consistent with the mission and 

provisions of those laws under section 931 of the mental health code, 1974 

PA 258, MCL 330.1931. 

 

c. Is accompanied by documentation of its designation by the state, if 

requested by the Library. 

 

B. Public Interest Reduction or Waiver. The FOIA Coordinator may reduce  or 

waive the imposition of fees if the FOIA Coordinator determines that a waiver or 

reduction of the fee is in the public interest because searching for or furnishing copies of 

the public record can be considered as primarily benefiting the general public. 

 

C. Reduction for Late Responses. If the Library does not respond to a  written 

request in a timely manner as required by the FOIA, the Library shall do the following: 

 

1. Reduce the charges for labor costs by 5% for each day the Library exceeds 

the time permitted, with a maximum 50% reduction, if either of the following 

applies: 

 

a. The late response was willful and intentional. 

 

b. The written request: 

 

(i) included language that conveyed a request for information 

within the first 250 words of the body of a letter, facsimile, electronic 

mail, or electronic mail attachment, or 

 

(ii) specifically included the words, characters, or abbreviations 

for “freedom of information”, “information”, “FOIA”, “copy”, or a 

recognizable misspelling of such, or appropriate legal code reference for 

this act, on the front of an envelope, or in the subject line of an electronic 

mail, letter, or facsimile cover page. 



12  

2. If a charge reduction is required, the Library shall fully note the charge 

reduction on the Detailed Itemization. 

 

IX. INSPECTION. 

 

Upon request, the Library must furnish a requesting person a reasonable opportunity for 

inspection and examination of its public records, and must furnish reasonable facilities 

for making memoranda or abstracts from its public records during the usual business 

hours. Pursuant to Section 4(1) of the FOIA, the Library may charge a fee for the public 

record search, for the necessary copying of a public record for inspection or for providing 

a copy of the public record after inspection. 

 

The FOIA permits the Library to make reasonable rules necessary to protect its public 

records and to prevent excessive and unreasonable interference with the discharge of its 

functions. The Library must protect public records from loss, unauthorized alteration, 

mutilation, or destruction. As such, the Library authorizes the FOIA Coordinator to 

determine whether in a particular circumstance an employee or agent of the Library must 

be present at any inspection of documents to protect the public records, and in such cases 

may assess charges as appropriate under law. 

 

X. CERTIFIED COPIES. 

 

The Library must, upon written request, furnish a requesting person a certified copy of 

the public record disclosed in whole or in part by the Library. 

 

XI. APPEALS. 

 

A. Appeal of a Final Determination to Deny All or a Portion of the Request. 

 

1. Submit an Appeal. If a requestor desires to appeal all or part of a final 

determination to deny a request, the requestor must submit to the Bath Township 

Public Library Board (“Library Board”) a written appeal that specifically states 

the word “appeal” and identifies the reason or reasons for reversal of the denial. 

 

2. Receipt of Appeal. The Library Board is not considered to have received  

a written appeal until the first regularly scheduled meeting of the Library Board 

following submission of the written appeal. 

 

3. Response to Appeal. Within 10 business days after receiving a written 

appeal, the Library Board shall do 1 of the following: 

 

a. Reverse the disclosure denial. 

 

b. Issue a written notice to the requesting person upholding the 

disclosure denial. 



13  

c. Reverse the disclosure denial in part and issue a written notice to 

the requesting person upholding the disclosure denial in part. 

 

d. Under unusual circumstances, issue a notice extending for not 

more than 10 business days the period during which the Library Board 

shall respond to the written appeal. The Library Board shall not issue more 

than 1 notice of extension for a particular written appeal. 

 

B. Appeals of Fees (Including Deposits). 

 

1. Submit an Appeal. If the Library requires a fee that exceeds the amount 

permitted under these Procedures and Guidelines or Section 4 of the FOIA, the 

requesting person may submit to the Library Board a written appeal for a fee 

reduction that specifically states the word “appeal” and identifies how the 

required fee exceeds the amount permitted under these Procedures and Guidelines 

or Section 4 of the FOIA. 

 

2. Receipt of Appeal.  The Library Board is not considered to have received 

a written appeal under until the first regularly scheduled meeting of the Library 

Board following submission of the written appeal. 

 

3. Response of Appeal. Within 10 business days after receiving a written 

appeal, the Library Board shall do 1 of the following: 

 

a. Waive the fee. 

 

b. Reduce the fee and issue a written determination to the requesting 

person indicating the specific basis under Section 4 of the FOIA that 

supports the remaining fee. The determination shall include a certification 

from the Library Board that the statements in the determination are 

accurate and that the reduced fee amount complies with its publicly 

available Procedures and Guidelines and Section 4 of the FOIA. 

 

c. Uphold the fee and issue a written determination indicating the 

specific basis under Section 4 of the FOIA that supports the required fee. 

The determination shall include a certification from the Library Board that 

the statements in the determination are accurate and that the fee amount 

complies with these Procedures and Guidelines and Section 4 of the FOIA. 

 

d. Issue a notice extending for not more than 10 business days the 

period during which the Library Board must respond to the written appeal. 

The notice of extension shall include a detailed reason or reasons why the 

extension is necessary. The Library Board shall not issue more than 1 

notice of extension for a particular written appeal. 



14  

XII. CIVIL ACTION. 

 

A. Civil Action for Non-Disclosure or Denial of Public Records. 

 

1. Civil Action After Appeal: If the Library Board fails to respond to a 

written appeal or if the Library Board upholds all or a portion of the disclosure 

denial that is the subject of the written appeal, the requesting person may seek 

judicial review of the nondisclosure by commencing a civil action within 180 

days after the Library’s final determination to deny a request. 

 

2. Civil Action Directly After Denial. A requestor may also commence a 

civil action in the circuit court to compel the Library’s disclosure of the public 

records within 180 days after the Library’s final determination to deny a request. 

The requestor is not required to appeal the denial to the Library Board before 

commencing the civil action. 

 

3. Remedies; Fines. If the court determines a public record is not exempt 

from disclosure, it shall order the Library to cease withholding or to produce all or 

a portion of a public record wrongfully withheld. If the person prevails, the court 

shall award reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and disbursements. If the person or 

Library prevails in part, the court may, in its discretion, award all or an 

appropriate portion of reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and disbursements. If the 

court determines that the Library has arbitrarily and capriciously violated this act 

by refusal or delay in disclosing or providing copies of a public record, the court 

shall order the Library to pay a civil fine of $1,000.00 and shall award, in addition 

to any actual or compensatory damages, punitive damages in the amount of 
$1,000.00. 

 

B. Civil Action Regarding Fees. 

 

1. Civil Action After Appeal. A requestor may commence a civil action in 

the circuit court for a fee reduction if the Library (1) failed to respond to a written 

appeal or (2) made a determination on a written appeal. A requester must submit 

an appeal to the Library Board for a fee reduction before commencing a civil 

action. If a civil action is commenced against the Library, the Library is not 

obligated to complete the processing of the written request for the public record at 

issue until the court resolves the fee dispute. This action must be filed within 45 

days after receiving notice of the determination of an appeal to the Library Board. 

 

2. Remedies; Fines. If the requesting person prevails by receiving a  

reduction of 50% or more of the total fee, the court may, in its discretion, award 

all or an appropriate portion of reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and 

disbursements. If the court determines the Library has arbitrarily and capriciously 

violated this act by charging an excessive fee, the court shall order the Library to 

pay a civil fine of $500.00, which shall be deposited in the general fund of the 

state treasury. The court may also award, in addition to any actual or 



15  

compensatory damages, punitive damages in the amount of $500.00 to the person 

seeking the fee reduction. 

 

XIII. FOIA RECORD RETENTION. 

 

The FOIA Coordinator must keep a copy of all written requests and documents sent in 

response to the request for public records on file for no less than 1 year, unless a longer 

retention time has been specified in a record retention policy applicable to the Library. 

 

XIV. PUBLICATION AND NOTIFICATION OF PROCEDURE AND GUIDELINES. 

 

Because the Library maintains a website, these Procedures and Guidelines and the 

summary shall be posted and maintained on the website. The Library shall make these 

Procedures and Guidelines and summary publicly available by providing free copies both 

in the response to a written request and upon request by visitors at the Library. However, 

the Library may include the website link instead of providing paper copies in its response 

to a written request. 

 

XV. SEVERABILITY; ENFORCEABILITY. 

 

If any clause, provision or section of these Procedures and Guidelines shall be ruled 

invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, the invalidity or 

unenforceability of such clause, provision or section shall not affect any of the remaining 

clauses, provisions or sections. If any of the Procedures and Guidelines is determined by 

the FOIA Coordinator to be in conflict with the FOIA or other law after adoption, the 

FOIA Coordinator has the authority to process FOIA requests in conformance with the 

FOIA and shall seek to amend these Procedures and Guidelines as soon as possible. 

 

XVI. EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

These Procedures and Guidelines shall become effective upon approval. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

84828:00001:4037157-1 



 

BATH TOWNSHIP PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 

WRITTEN PUBLIC SUMMARY OF THE 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT PROCEDURES AND GUIDELINES 
 

 

The Bath Township Public Library (“Library”) adopts this written public summary pursuant to 

the requirements of Section 4(4) of the Michigan Freedom of Information Act, 1976 PA 442 

(“FOIA”) so that the public will understand the Library’s Procedures and Guidelines for 

processing FOIA requests. This is a summary of the Procedures and Guidelines. A complete 

copy of the Procedures and Guidelines is available at the Library located at 14033 Webster Road, 

Bath, Michigan 48808 or on the website at  . 

 

A. How Can I Request a Public Record? 

 

• A person (except those persons incarcerated in state, county or federal correctional 

facilities), may request public records. 

• The requestor must send a written request for the public record to the Library. A request 

can be made through a letter, in person, or sent by electronic transmission. The requests 

should  be  directed  to  the  FOIA  Coordinator.  The  contact  information  is   as 

follows:   

  . 

• A request from a person must include (unless the request is from an individual who 

qualifies as indigent) the person’s complete name, address (in compliance with United 

State Postal Service standards), and contact information, and if made by a person other 

than an individual, the complete name, address, and contact information of the person’s 

agent who is an individual. Contact information must include a valid telephone number or 

electronic mail address. 

• The requestor will not be required to use a specific form or format, but requests must 

identify the public record sufficiently to allow the Library to find the requested record. 

• The Library may, but is not required to, respond to a verbal request. However, if the 

Library believes the information is available on its website, the Library will inform the 

requestor of the website location where practicable and to the best of his or her 

knowledge. 

 

B. When Can I Expect a Response? 

 

• Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, the Library will respond or seek a deposit within 5 

business days after it receives the request. However, the Library may extend that time 

period by 10 business days. 

• Please keep in mind that a request sent by e-mail or other electronic means is not 

considered received until 1 business day after it is transmitted. If the request is sent to a 

spam or junk mail folder, it is not considered received until 1 day after it is discovered. 



2  

C. How Can I Understand the Response? 

 

• If the Library grants a written request in full, the requestor will receive a notice indicating 

that it has been granted. 

• However, if the request is denied or denied in part, the Library shall provide any or all the 

following information, depending upon the reason for the denial: 

 
o An explanation of the basis that the public record, or portion of that public record, 

is exempt from disclosure, including a description of the information that is 
separated or deleted. 

o A certificate that the public record does not exist under the name given by the 
requestor or by another name reasonably known to the Library. 

o A full explanation of the requesting person’s right to (1) submit to the Library 
Board a written appeal; or (2) seek judicial review of the denial under Section 10 
of the FOIA. (See below for more details). 

o Notice of the right to receive attorneys’ fees and damages if a court determines 
that the Library has not complied and orders disclosure of all or a portion of a 
public record. 

 

• If a request is granted in part or granted in full, the Library will require payment before 

providing documents. 

 

D. What if I Request Documents Available on the Website? 

 

• If documents are available on the website, to the degree practicable, the response will 

include a specific webpage address where the requested information is available. 

• The Library will inform the requestor of the additional charge to receive copies of the 

public records that are available on its website. 

 

E. What Fees Will the Library Charge? 

 

• The FOIA Coordinator will provide a detailed itemization of costs. 

• For labor costs, the fee shall not exceed the sum of the following components: 

 

o Hourly Wage. The Library will not charge more than the hourly wage of its 
lowest-paid employee capable of searching for, locating, and examining the 

public records; separating and deleting exempt information from non-exempt 
information; and for duplication and publication regardless of whether that person 

is available or who actually performs the labor, except if the Library does not 
employ a person capable of separating and deleting exempt information from non- 

exempt information, it may treat necessary contracted labor costs for that purpose 
in the same manner as employee labor costs but may not exceed 6 times the State 

minimum hourly wage. 

o Time Increments: The fee will be charged in fifteen (15) minute increments, with 
all partial time rounded down, except the labor fee for duplication and 
publication, which shall be charged in one (1) minute increments. 



3  

o Determination of Unreasonably High Labor Costs. The fee for searching for, 

locating and examining public records and separating exempt information from 
non-exempt information (including redacting) will not be charged, unless failure 

to charge a fee would result in unreasonably high costs to the Library because of 

the nature of the request in the particular instance, and the Library specifically 
identifies the nature of these unreasonably high costs. 

 
o Overtime. Overtime wages shall not be included unless agreed to by the  

requestor. 

o Description of Charge. The detailed itemization will include both the hourly  
wage and the number of hours charged. 

o Fringe Benefit Costs. The Library may also add up to 50% to the applicable labor 
charge amount (but may not exceed actual costs) to cover or partially cover the 
cost of fringe benefits if it clearly notes the percentage multiplier used to account 
for benefits, unless a requestor wants records that are available on the website. In 
which case, the fringe benefit multiplier can be greater than the 50% limitation. 

 

• For public records provided to the requestor on nonpaper physical media (discs, flash 

drives, e-mails), the Library may charge the actual and most reasonably economical cost 

of the media. 

• For paper copies, the Library may charge the actual total incremental cost of necessary 

duplication or publication not to exceed $.10 per page (single or double sided) for 8½ by 

11 inch paper or 8½ by 14 inch paper. The Library will charge the actual cost of copies 

made on paper of a different size. The Library will use double-sided printing, if cost 

saving and available. 

• The Library may charge the actual cost of mailing and the least expensive form of postal 

delivery confirmation. 

 

F. Will a Deposit be Required? When do I have to Pay the Deposit? 

 

• The Library may require a good-faith deposit of ½ of the estimated fee if the entire fee 

estimate or charge authorized under the FOIA exceeds $50.00, based on a good-faith 

calculation of the total estimated fee. 

• The Library will also provide a best efforts, nonbinding estimate of the time frame it will 

take the Library to provide the public records to the requestor. 

• If the Library has granted a prior request but has not been paid in full, the Library may 

require a deposit of up to 100% of the estimated fee if all of the following apply: 

 
o The final fee for the prior written request was not more than 105% of the 

estimated fee. 

o The public records made available contained the information being sought in the 
prior written request and are still in the Library’s possession. 

o The public records were made available to the individual, subject to payment, 
within the time frame estimate described Section 4(7) of the FOIA. 

o Ninety days have passed since the Library notified the individual in writing that 
the public records were available for pick up or mailing. 



4  

o The individual is unable to show proof of prior payment to the Library. 
o The Library calculates a Detailed Itemization that is the basis for the current 

written request’s increased estimated fee deposit. 

 

The Library shall no longer require an increased estimated fee deposit if any of the 

following apply: 

 

o The individual is able to show proof of prior payment in full to the Library; 

o The Library is subsequently paid in full for the applicable prior written request; or 
o Three hundred sixty-five days have passed since the individual made the written 

request for which full payment was not remitted to the Library. 

 

• If a deposit is not received within 45 days from receipt of the deposit notice letter (it is 

considered received 3 days after it is sent), and no appeal of the deposit amount is filed, 

the request is abandoned. The notice of a deposit will include the date by which the 

deposit must be received (48 days after notice is sent). 

 

G. Am I Entitled to a Wavier or Reduction of Fees? 

 

• A reduction of the fee by $20.00 is available to certain individuals who submit an 

affidavit stating they are indigent and receiving public assistance, or if not receiving 

public assistance, stating facts showing in ability to pay because of indigency. For this 

reduction to apply, the individual may not have received discounted fees twice during 

that calendar year and the person may not be requesting on behalf of parties who are 

paying to make the request. 

• A reduction of the fee by $20.00 is also available to certain non-profit organizations 

formally carrying out activities under subtitle C of the developmental disabilities 

assistance and bill of rights act of 2000, and the protection and advocacy for individuals 

with mental illness act, provided that the request is made on behalf of the organization or 

its clients, is made for a reason consistent with the laws under Section 931 of the mental 

health code and is accompanied by documentation of its designation by the state. 

• The FOIA Coordinator may reduce or waive the imposition of fees if the FOIA 

Coordinator determines that a waiver or reduction of the fee is in the public interest 

because searching for or furnishing copies of the public record can be considered as 

primarily benefiting the general public. 

• If the Library does not respond to a written request in a timely manner as required by the 

FOIA, the Library shall reduce the charges for labor costs by 5% for each day the Library 

exceeds the time permitted, with a maximum 50% reduction, if the late response was 

willful and intentional or the written request included specific language as set forth more 

fully in the Procedures and Guidelines. 

 

H. How Can I Appeal a Decision to Deny All or Part of My Request? 

 

• If a requestor desires to appeal all or part of a decision to deny a request, the requestor 

must submit to the Bath Township Public Library Board (“Library Board”) a written 



5  

appeal that specifically states the word “appeal” and identifies the reason or reasons for 

reversal of the denial. 

• The Library Board is not considered to have received a written appeal until the first 

regularly scheduled meeting after submission of the written appeal. 

• The Library will respond within 10 business days by reversing the disclosure denial, 

upholding the denial, revising in part and upholding in part the denial or issuing a 10 

business day extension. 

 

I. How Can I Appeal a Determination of the Fee or Deposit Amount? 

 

• The requestor may submit to the Library Board a written appeal for a fee reduction that 

specifically states the word “appeal” and identifies how the required fee exceeds the 

amount permitted under the Procedures and Guidelines or Section 4 of the FOIA. 

• The Library Board is not considered to have received a written appeal until the first 

regularly scheduled meeting after submission of the written appeal. 

• The Library will respond within 10 business days by waiving the fee, reducing the fee 

and explaining the basis for the remaining fee, upholding the fee or issuing a 10 business 

day extension. 

 

J. Can I File a Lawsuit Regarding the Denial of a FOIA Request? 

 

• If the Library Board fails to respond to a written appeal or if the Library Board upholds 

all or a portion of the disclosure denial that is the subject of the written appeal, the 

requestor may seek judicial review of the nondisclosure by commencing a civil action 

within 180 days after the Library’s final determination to deny a request. A requestor  

may also commence a civil action in the circuit court to compel the Library’s disclosure 

of the public records within 180 days after the Library’s final determination to deny a 

request. The requestor is not required to appeal the denial to the Library Board before 

commencing the civil action. 

• If a person prevails in an action regarding the denial of a request, the court shall award 

reasonable attorneys fees, costs and disbursements. If the person prevails in part, the 

court may award all or a portion of the attorneys’ fees, costs and disbursements. If the 

court determines the FOIA was arbitrarily or capriciously violated, the court shall order a 

civil fine of $1,000.00 to be paid to the state treasury. The court may also award actual, 

compensatory or punitive damages. 

 

K Can I File a Lawsuit Regarding the Fee Charged For a FOIA Request? 

 

• A requestor may commence a civil action in the circuit court for a fee reduction if the 

Library (1) failed to respond to a written appeal or (2) issued a determination of a written 

appeal. This action must be filed within 45 days after receiving notice of the 

determination of an appeal to the Library Board. The requester must file an appeal for a 

fee reduction before commencing a circuit court action. 

• If a person prevails in an action by receiving a reduction of 50% or more of the total fee, 

the court may award all or a portion of the reasonable attorneys’ fees. If the court 

determines FOIA was arbitrarily or capriciously violated, the court shall order a civil fine 



6  

of  $500.00  to  be  paid  to  the  state  treasury. The court may also award actual, 

compensatory or punitive damages. 

 
84828:00001:4037155-1 



 

Bath Township Public Library 

Comprehensive Cost List for Move to New Space – July 2019 

 Estimated Cost Possible Grant/Donation  

1. Lease for 6000 sq. ft.   

2. New Entry w/ Window 
   

3. Architect Design 
   

4. Renovated Bathrooms 
   

5. Kitchen “Licensed?” 
   

6. Walls – Moveable Partitions 
   

7. Bookshelves – Moveable 
   

8. HVAC – done? 
   

9. Drive‐up Window 
   

10. Extra staffing for Drive‐up Window       
 

11. Library Operations – Yearly*        

12. Basic Conference Room Furnishings        

13. Internal Walls Paint/Décor        

14. Light Fixtures/ Internal (Consider different kinds)        

15. Moving Expenditures        

16. Security for Space        

17. Flooring        

18. Windows        

19. Skylight        

20. Furniture: tables, chairs, computer tables, work stations 

(think Makerspace) 

 

   

 

   

 

21. Office Furniture and front desk area furnishings   _     

22. Electrical work (outlets, etc.)        

23. Donation Plaques        

24. Construction Inspection        

25. Fireplace        

26. New Computers        

27. Water Fountain        

28. Ladders for reaching top shelves        

29. Step stools        

30. New Signage        

(over) 



 

31. New Whiteboards 
 
 

Total 
 
 

*Based on previous year minus current lease expense 


